### **RECEIVED** 12-05-2013

### STATE OF WISCONSIN

**CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN** 

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2011AP002907-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

V.

ANTONIO D. BROWN,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Notice of Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction and an Order Denying Post-Conviction Relief Entered in the Circuit Court for Milwaukee County, the Honorable Rebecca F. Dallet, Presiding

### BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF **DEFENDANT-APPELLANT**

HANNAH B. SCHIEBER Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1081221

Office of the State Public Defender 735 North Water Street, Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-2201

### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Did police have a lawful basis to conduct a traffic stop when they observed a tail lamp with two lit bulbs and one unlit bulb, where Wisconsin Statutes define a tail lamp as a "device to designate the rear of a vehicle by a warning light" and require the tail lamp to be in "good working order"?

The circuit court denied Mr. Brown's motion to suppress the evidence obtained as a result of the stop. (39:28-36;State's Appx.185-192). The circuit court further denied Mr. Brown's post-conviction motion challenging the circuit court's ruling on the motion to suppress and presenting an alternative argument that counsel was ineffective for failing to argue specifically that the car was not in violation of Wisconsin Statute Section 347.13(1) (which addresses the requirements for tail lamps). (29;State's Appx.113-117).

The Court of Appeals reversed, holding that "[a] tail lamp with one of three light bulbs unlit does not violate Wis. Stat. § 347.13(1) when it otherwise meets the statutory definition of a tail lamp." (Ct. App. Op., ¶ 21)(State's Appx.110). The Court of Appeals explained that the statute "does not require that a vehicle's tail lamps be fully functional or in perfect working order. It only requires 'good working order." *Id.* The Court explained that "the two lit light bulbs making up the driver's side tail lamp satisfied the definition of a tail lamp as 'a device to designate the rear of a vehicle by a warning light," *id.* (citing Wis. Stat. § 340.01(66)), and concluded that the officers therefore lacked probable cause to conduct the stop. *Id.* 

2. Did the search of Mr. Brown's car following the stop implicate *Arizona v. Gant*?

In its order granting review in this case, this Court asked the parties to address "whether *Arizona v. Gant*, 556 U.S. 332 (2009), applies to the fact situation in this case and, if so, how[.]" (Wis. Sup. Ct. Order., Oct. 15, 2013). Mr. Brown did argue to the circuit court that the search violated *Gant*. (9;39:26-27;State's Appx.182-183). The circuit court held that *Gant* did not apply to the search. (39:33-35;State's Appx.189-191). Mr. Brown did not challenge the search under *Gant* in his post-conviction motion or to the Court of Appeals. *See* (28;Brown Ct. App. Initial and Reply Briefs).

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

This Court's decision to accept review indicates oral argument and publication are likely warranted.

### **RELEVANT STATUTE**

This case involves the interpretation and application of Wisconsin Statute  $\S 347.13(1)^1$ , which states:

No person shall operate a motor vehicle, mobile home or trailer or semitrailer upon a highway during hours of darkness unless such motor vehicle, mobile home or trailer or semitrailer is equipped with at least one tail lamp mounted on the rear which, when lighted during hours of darkness, emits a red light plainly visible from a distance of 500 feet to the rear. No tail lamp shall have any type of decorative covering that restricts the amount of light emitted when the tail lamp is in use. No vehicle originally equipped at the time of manufacture with 2 tail lamps shall be operated upon a highway during hours of darkness unless both such lamps are in good working order. This subsection does not apply to any type of decorative covering originally equipped on the vehicle at the time of manufacture and sale.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State's statement of the case and facts sufficiently frames the issues in this case. Mr. Brown will include additional relevant facts as needed in the argument section of his brief.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All references to the Wisconsin Statutes are to the 2009-10 version unless otherwise indicated.

#### **ARGUMENT**

This case involves one central question: whether the State established that the tail lamp on the driver's side of Mr. Brown's car, which police saw had two lit bulbs and one unlit bulb, violated the traffic statutes to justify the traffic stop. The answer to this question can be found in the plain language of the statutes. As the Court of Appeals held in this case, the statutes define a tail lamp as a "device to designate the rear of a vehicle by a warning light," and simply require the tail lamp to be in "good working order." (Ct. App. Op., ¶ 18,21)(State's Appx. 109-110)(citing Wis. Stat. § 340.01(66); Wis. Stat. § 347.13(1)). Wisconsin Statute Section 347.13(1) also explains when a tail lamp is in "good working order": requiring that the lamp, "when lighted during hours of darkness, emits a red light plainly visible from a distance of 500 feet to the rear." Wis. Stat. § 347.13(1).

Thus, as the Court of Appeals held, "[a] tail lamp with one of three bulbs unlit does not violate Wis. Stat. § 347.13(1) when it otherwise meets the statutory definition of a tail lamp." (Ct. App. Op., ¶ 21)(State's Appx.110). The Court of Appeals applied the plain language of the statute and held that the tail lamp on Mr. Brown's car satisfied the statutory requirements and that therefore the officers lacked a lawful basis to stop the car. *Id*.

The State now asks this Court to effectively amend the statutes to impose stricter requirements than what the statutes actually require. In so doing, the State confuses a tail lamp that is in "good working order" with a tail lamp that is in perfect condition. Requiring every component of a tail lamp to be in perfect condition would allow police to conduct traffic stops even when the tail lamp satisfies its role under

the plain language of the statute. This Court should uphold the Court of Appeals' decision.

The State also asks this Court to expand the scope of the good faith exception to apply to mistakes of fact in cases involving warrantless searches and seizures. This record, however, does not support that there was any mistake of fact. Further, such an extension would ignore the core purposes of the exclusionary rule. This Court should therefore decline the State's request to extend the scope of the good faith exception to mistakes of fact.

Lastly, this Court asked the parties to address whether *Arizona v. Gant* applies to the facts of this case. Mr. Brown agrees with the State that *Gant* does not apply to the facts of this case. Insofar as this Court accepted review of this case to address the application of *Gant*, this Court should dismiss review of the case as improvidently granted.

# I. Police Had No Lawful Basis to Stop the Car as the State Failed to Demonstrate that the Tail Lamp Violated the Statutes.

When reviewing a motion to suppress, an appellate court applies a two-step standard of review. *State v. Pallone*, 2000 WI 77, ¶ 27, 236 Wis. 2d 162, 613 N.W.2d 568, *cert. denied*, 531 U.S. 1175 (2001) (citations omitted). First, an appellate court will uphold a circuit court's findings of historical facts unless those facts are clearly erroneous. *Id.* Second, an appellate court reviews *de novo* the application of constitutional principles to those facts. *Id.* 

"Statutory interpretation is a question of law reviewed de novo." *Village of Cross Plains v. Haanstad*, 2006 WI 16, ¶ 9, 288 Wis. 2d 573, 709 N.W.2d 447. Statutory interpretation begins with the plain language of the statute.

State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cnty., 2004 WI 58, ¶ 45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. "Statutory language is given its common, ordinary, and accepted meaning, except that technical or specifically-defined words or phrases are given their technical or special definitional meaning." Id. Because "[c]ontext is important to meaning," "statutory language is interpreted in the context in which it is used; not in isolation but as part of a whole; in relation to the language of surrounding or closely-related statutes; and reasonably, to avoid absurd results." Id.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article 1, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution protect citizens against unreasonable searches and seizures. U.S. CONST., Amend. IV and WIS. CONST., Art 1, § 11. The "temporary detention of individuals" during a traffic stop constitutes a "seizure" within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment. *State v. Popke*, 2009 WI 37, ¶ 11, 317 Wis. 2d 118, 765 N.W.2d 569 (citation omitted). "A traffic stop is generally reasonable if the officers have probable cause to believe that a traffic violation has occurred, or have grounds to reasonably suspect a violation has been or will be committed." *Id.* (quoting *State v. Gaulrapp*, 207 Wis. 2d 600, 605, 558 N.W.2d 696 (Ct. App. 1996)).

"Reasonable suspicion is based upon specific and articulable facts that together with reasonable inferences therefrom reasonably warrant a *suspicion* that an offense has occurred or will occur." *State v. Longcore*, 226 Wis. 2d 1, 9, 594 N.W.2d 412( Ct. App. 1999), *aff'd* 2000 WI 23, 233 Wis. 2d 278, 607 N.W.2d 620 (citing *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1 (1968))(emphasis in original). "It is insufficient to support an arrest or search, but permits further investigation." *Id.* Probable cause, on the other hand, "looks to the totality of the circumstances facing the officer at the time of arrest to

determine whether the officer could have reasonably believed the defendant had committed, or was committing, an offense." *Id.* 

When an officer conducts a traffic stop based on a specific offense, the purported offense "must indeed *be* an offense; a lawful stop cannot be predicated upon a mistake of law." *Longcore*, 226 Wis. 2d at 9 (emphasis in original).

As the Court of Appeals explained, the issue in this case requires consideration of whether the officers had probable cause to conduct the stop:

Here, the officers observed that the middle, red light bulb on the rear driver's side of the vehicle was unlit, and stopped the vehicle because they believed that the unlit light bulb constituted an equipment violation. They 'did not act upon a suspicion that warranted further investigation, but on [their] observation of a violation being committed in [their] presence.' As such, the issue before us is whether the officers had probable cause that a law had been broken supporting the stop, not whether there was reasonable suspicion to support the stop.

(Ct. App. Op., ¶ 15)(State's Appx.108)(internal citations omitted).

A. A tail lamp is in "good working order" under Wis. Stat. § 347.13(1) when it designates the rear of the car by a red light plainly visible from 500 feet to the rear.

Here, the officers had no lawful basis to stop the car. The officers testified that they stopped the car because of a "defective tail light"—specifically, because one of three red lights on the driver's side tail lamp was unlit. (38:5-6,10;

State's Appx.122-23,127).<sup>2</sup> Officer Feely testified that the "driver['s] side middle" red light was out. (38:26;State's Appx.143). The circuit court found the officers credible that they saw that the one of the three red lights was unlit. (39:32;State's Appx.188). Nevertheless, as the Court of Appeals held, the statutes do not require each individual component of one tail lamp to be in perfect condition. (Ct. App. Op., ¶21)(State's Appx.110).

Wis. Stat. § 347.13(1) provides, in relevant part, that: "[n]o vehicle originally equipped at the time of manufacture and sale with 2 tail lamps shall be operated upon a highway during hours of darkness unless both such lamps are in *good working order*." Wis. Stat. § 347.13(1)(emphasis added). Whether or not police had a lawful basis to stop the car therefore turns on what is required for a tail lamp to be in "good working order."

A "tail lamp" "means a device to designate the rear of a vehicle by a warning light." Wis. Stat. § 340.01(66)(see also Wis. Stat. §§340.01, explaining that the definitions in that statute apply to statutory chapters including Chapter 347). So, when is a tail lamp in "good working order"? The plain language of the statute provides the answer:

No person shall operate a motor vehicle, mobile home or trailer or semitrailer upon a highway during hours of darkness unless such motor vehicle, mobile home or trailer or semitrailer is equipped with at least one tail lamp mounted on the rear which, when lighted during hours of darkness, emits a red light plainly visible from

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Included in Mr. Brown's appendix are pictures of the rear of Mr. Brown's car that were admitted at the suppression hearing. (44:1)(Exh.D:3-4)(App.101). These pictures were not taken at the time of the stop, but instead a week before the suppression hearing. (39:31;State's App.187).

a distance of 500 feet to the rear. No tail lamp shall have any type of decorative covering that restricts the amount of light emitted when the tail lamp is in use. No vehicle originally equipped at the time of manufacture with 2 tail lamps shall be operated upon a highway during hours of darkness unless both such lamps are in good working order. This subsection does not apply to any type of decorative covering originally equipped on the vehicle at the time of manufacture and sale.

Wis. Stat. § 347.13(1)(emphasis added). Thus, the statute establishes that a tail lamp is in "good working order" when it gives off a red light which can be plainly seen from up to 500 feet behind the car, and further requires that if a car comes with two tail lamps, both tail lamps must be in "good working order."

The State in this case presented no evidence at the suppression hearing to suggest that the driver's side tail lamp was insufficient to designate the rear of the car to the officers. Instead, the officers testified that they conducted the traffic stop because they believed the driver's side tail lamp to be defective because one of three bulbs comprising the lamp was unlit. (38:5-6,10,26;State's Appx.122-23,127,143). But, as the Court of Appeals held, one unlit bulb does not mean that the tail lamp was not *working* as required by the statute:

A tail lamp with one of three light bulbs unlit does not violate Wis. Stat. § 347.13(1) when it otherwise meets the statutory definition of a tail lamp. The statute does not require that a vehicle's tail lamps be fully functional or in perfect working order. It only requires "good working order." Here, the two lit light bulbs making up the driver's side tail lamp satisfied the definition of a tail lamp as "a device to designate the rear of a vehicle by a warning light."

(Ct. App. Op.,  $\P$  21)(State's Appx.110)(internal citations omitted).

# B. The State's proposed interpretation confuses a "working" tail lamp with a tail lamp in mint condition.

The State's proposed interpretation confuses "good working order" with perfect condition, and in so doing ignores the statutorily-provided requirements for what it means for a tail lamp to be *working*. If the Legislature wishes to amend the statute to create more stringent requirements for drivers in Wisconsin, that is the prerogative of the Legislature—not this Court. *See., e.g., It's in the Cards v. Fuschetto*, 193 Wis. 2d 429, 437, 535 N.W.2d 11 (Ct. App. 1995)(noting that the court "will not indulge" in "judicial legislation" in order "to change or amend the statutes").

Is a car not "working" if the radio in the car is broken? The answer to that question depends on what it means for a car to be "working." If "working" simply requires that the car get the driver from point A to point B, then a car that can do so is still "working" regardless of whether the radio is functioning. Similarly, a tail *lamp* may be functioning as required under the statute (to designate the rear of the car) even if a specific individual bulb or component that is part of the lamp is not in perfect condition. Thus, the question is not—as the State attempts to argue—one of percentages (i.e. if 66% of bulbs are lit, is that enough? 50%?)—the question is whether the tail lamp was serving its function as required by the statute: to designate the rear of the car to cars behind it. This is what the Court of Appeals held, (see Ct. App. Op., ¶ 21)(State's Appx.110), and it is the proper interpretation of the statute.

The State attempts to point to other portions of Chapter 347 and the Administrative Code to support its proposed standard. See State's Brief at 19 (discussing Wis. Stat. § 347.06(3)'s requirement that all lamps must be "reasonably clean and in proper working condition" and Administrative Code § 305.16(2) requirement that lamps be "maintained in proper working condition")(emphasis added). But here too the State ignores the statutory explanation that working condition means a tail lamp that is designating the rear of a car by a red light viewable up to the 500 feet required by the statute. See Wis. Stat. § 347.13(1).<sup>3</sup>

Contrary to the State's assertions, the text of other statutes within Chapter 347 (Equipment of Vehicles) instead support the Court of Appeals' interpretation of what is required for a tail lamp to be in "good working order." Wisconsin Statute Section 347.13 is not the only time the phrase "good working order" appears in the Chapter. Stop lamps (brake lamps), brakes themselves, car horns, and windshield wipers must also be in "good working order." See Wis. Stats. §§ 347.14(1)(explaining that stop lamps must be in "good working order");340.01(63)(defining stop lamp as "a device giving steady warning light to the rear of a vehicle to indicate the intention of the operator of the vehicle to diminish speed or stop"); 347.36 (explaining that brakes must be in "good working order"); 347.38 (explaining that car horns must be in "good working order"); and 347.42 (explaining that windshield wipers must be in "good working order"). Chapter 347 also requires that all bicycles, motor bicycles, and electric personal assistive mobility devices have

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Furthermore, insofar as any portions of the Administrative Code, Chapter 305 (Department of Transportation, Standards for Vehicle Equipment) appear to conflict with the requirements of Chapter 347, Chapter 305 states directly that "[n]othing in this chapter is intended to modify the provisions of ch. 347, Stats." Wis. Stat. § 305.02(7).

a brake that is in "good working condition." Wis. Stat. § 347.489.

Each of these statutes explains what is required for that equipment to be "working." (See Wis. Stats. §§ 347.14(1), 347.36, 347.38, 347.42, 347.489). Brakes on a car, for example, "shall be capable of bringing the vehicle or combination of vehicles to a stop, under normal conditions, within 50 feet when traveling at a speed of 20 miles per hour." Wis. Stat. § 347.36. A brake on a bicycle, motor bicycle, or electric personal assistive mobility device must be "adequate to control the movement of and to stop the bicycle, motor bicycle, or electric personal assistive mobility device whenever necessary." Wis. Stat. § 347.489. A brake is thus in "good working" order or condition when it is capable of bringing the vehicle, bicycle, etc., to a stop as set forth in the statute. These statutes do not mandate that the brakes be in mint condition to be in "good working" condition—the statutes require that the brakes be sufficient ("adequate") to perform their required function. Wis. Stat. § 347.489. Wisconsin Statute § 347.13(1) sets forth the same standard for tail lamps.

The Indiana Court of Appeals has reached similar conclusions when interpreting its traffic statutes. In *Goens v. State*, 943 N.E.2d 829 (Ind. Ct. App. 2011), the Indiana Court of Appeals held that a car's stop lamps (brake lights) were in "good working order" where two of three stop lamps were working. *Id.* at 834;(Appx.102-105). The Court noted that as the statute only required one operating stop lamp, the defendant's equipment was in "good working order" where the other two stop lamps were functioning. *Id.* Additionally, in *Kroft v. State*, 992 N.E.2d 818 (Ind. Ct. App. 2013), the Indiana Court of Appeals held that a tail lamp was in "good working order" despite a small hole in the lamp that caused

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