### **RECEIVED**

11-14-2013

## STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF SUPREME COURT IN SUPREME COURT No. 2011AP2907-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

ANTONIO D. BROWN,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM A
DECISION OF THE WISCONSIN COURT OF
APPEALS REVERSING A JUDGMENT OF
CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING A
MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF,
ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR
MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE
REBECCA F. DALLET, PRESIDING

### BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT-PETITIONER

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

AARON R. O'NEIL Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1041818

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner

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

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This court should reverse the court of appeals' decision that the stop of Brown's car was unconstitutional. The court's conclusion that under Wis. Stat. § 347.13(1), a tail lamp made up of three lights is in good working order when only two of the lights are lit is wrong. "Good working order" is properly interpreted to mean that the tail lamp is functioning as it is supposed to, that is, with all of its component lights lit. The court of appeals' standard is unworkable and gives little guidance to law enforcement, the public, and courts in determining whether a tail lamp is in good working order. The State's interpretation of § 347.13(1) is clear, consistent with other statutes, the administrative code, a past decision of the court of appeals and decisions of other courts.

Further, this court should conclude that the officers acted properly when they stopped Brown's car. If the officers were correct that the unlit light was part of the tail lamp, then, applying the State's interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 347.13(1), they had probable cause to stop the car because they observed that its tail lamps did not comply with the law. Further, even if the officers were wrong that the unlit light was a tail lamp, they acted reasonably in believing that it was, and had

probable cause or reasonable suspicion to believe the tail lamp was in violation of § 347.13(1).

This court should also conclude that the officers had reasonable suspicion to perform a protective search of the car for weapons pursuant to *Long*, 463 U.S. 1032. That case, and not *Gant*, controls whether the search was constitutional. Under all the circumstances of the stop, the officers could reasonably suspect there was a weapon in Brown's car and undertake a search to ensure their safety.

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. THE OFFICERS PROPERLY STOPPED BROWN'S CAR BECAUSE WIS. STAT. § 347.13(1) REQUIRES THAT ALL THE BULBS IN A CAR'S TAIL LAMP BE LIT TO BE IN GOOD WORKING ORDER.
  - A. Applicable law and standard of review.
    - 1. Traffic stops.

"The temporary detention of individuals during the stop of an automobile by the police, even if only for a brief period and for a limited purpose, constitutes a 'seizure' of 'persons' within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment." State v. Popke, 2009 WI 37, ¶ 11, 317 Wis. 2d 118, 765 N.W.2d 569 (quoting State v. Gaulrapp, 207 Wis. 2d 600, 605, 558 N.W.2d 696 (Ct. App.

1996) and citing *Whren v. United States*, 517 U.S. 806, 809-10 (1996)).

"An automobile stop must not be unreasonable under the circumstances." Popke, 317 Wis. 2d 118, ¶ 11 (citations omitted). "A traffic stop is generally reasonable if the officers have probable cause to believe that a traffic violation has occurred, or have grounds to reasonably suspect a violation has been or will be committed." Id. (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).

"Probable cause refers to the quantum of evidence which would lead a reasonable police officer to believe that a traffic violation has occurred." Id. ¶ 14 (internal quotation marks and citations omitted). The information must lead a reasonable officer to think that guilt is more than a possibility. Id. (citation omitted). It does not have to be evidence to establish proof beyond a reasonable doubt or even that guilt is more probable than not. Id. (citation omitted).

If probable cause does not exist, law enforcement may still conduct a traffic stop if the totality of the circumstances provides grounds to reasonably suspect that a crime or traffic violation has been or will be committed. *Id.* ¶ 23 (citation omitted). There must be "specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts" that reasonably warrant the stop. *Id.* (citing *State v. Post*, 2007 WI 60, ¶ 10, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634). "The crucial question is whether the facts of the case would warrant a reasonable police officer, in light of his or her training and experience, to suspect that the individual has committed, was

committing, or is about to commit a crime." *Popke*, 317 Wis. 2d 111, ¶ 23 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). "An officer's inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or hunch, however, will not give rise to reasonable suspicion." *Id*. (internal quotations omitted).

"Whether there is probable cause or reasonable suspicion to stop a vehicle is a question of constitutional fact." *Id.* ¶ 10 (citing *State v. Mitchell*, 167 Wis. 2d 672, 684, 482 N.W.2d 364 (1992) and *State v. Williams*, 2001 WI 21, ¶ 18, 241 Wis. 2d 631, 623 N.W.2d 106). A finding of constitutional fact consists of the circuit court's findings of historical fact, which this court reviews under the clearly erroneous standard, and the application of these facts to constitutional principles, which this court reviews de novo. *Popke*, 317 Wis. 2d 111, ¶ 10 (citation omitted).

### 2. Statutory interpretation.

"The purpose of statutory interpretation is to determine what the statute means so that it may be given its full, proper, and intended effect."  $State\ v.\ Ziegler$ , 2012 WI 73, ¶ 42, 342 Wis. 2d 256, 816 N.W.2d 238 (citations and internal quotation marks omitted). "[S]tatutory interpretation begins with the language of the statute." Id. (citation omitted). "With the exception of technical or specially-defined words, statutory language is given its common and ordinary meaning." Id. (citation omitted). If the language is plain, this court's inquiry ends. Id. (citation omitted).

Determining a statute's plain meaning requires more than focusing on a single sentence

or a portion of one. Id. ¶ 43 (citation omitted). Statutes should be interpreted in the context they are used, "not in isolation but as part of a whole." Id. (quoted source omitted). Statutes should also be construed reasonably to avoid absurd results or an interpretation that contravenes the statute's purpose. Id. (citation omitted).

Statutory interpretation is a question of law this court reviews de novo. *Id.* ¶ 37 (citation omitted).

- B. The court of appeals improperly concluded that a tail lamp with two of three bulbs lit is in good working order under Wis. Stat. § 347.13(1).
  - 1. The court's interpretation is incorrect.

This court should first conclude that the court of appeals improperly interpreted Wis. Stat. § 347.13(1) in holding that the sixty-six percent functional tail lamp in Brown's car was in good working order. Section 347.13(1) provides:

No person shall operate a motor vehicle, mobile home or trailer or semitrailer upon a highway during hours of darkness unless such motor vehicle, mobile home or trailer or semitrailer is equipped with at least one tail lamp mounted on the rear which, when lighted during hours of darkness, emits a red light plainly visible from a distance of 500 feet to the rear. No tail lamp shall have any type of decorative covering that restricts the amount of light emitted when the tail

lamp is in use. No vehicle originally equipped at the time of manufacture and sale with 2 tail lamps shall be operated upon a highway during hours of darkness unless both such lamps are in good working order. This subsection does not apply to any type of decorative covering originally equipped on the vehicle at the time of manufacture and sale.

The court of appeals interpreted "good" working order" in reference to the statutory definition of "tail lamp," which Wis. Stat. § 340.01(66) states is a "device to designate the rear of a vehicle by a warning light." Brown, 346 Wis. 2d 98, ¶¶ 18, 21. It concluded that even assuming the unlit bulb was part of the tail lamp, the lamp was in good working order because it designated the rear of Brown's car. *Id.* ¶¶ 20, 21. It also determined that good working order did not mean "fully functional or in perfect working order." Id. ¶ 21. Thus, because there was nothing legally wrong with the tail lamp, the court held the officers impermissibly stopped Brown's car based on a mistake of law. *Id.* ¶ 21 (citing *State v.* Longcore, 226 Wis. 2d 1, 9, 594 N.W.2d 412 (Ct. App. 1999).

The court of appeals' interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 347.13(1) is contrary to the plain meaning of the statute's language. "Working order" means "a condition of a machine in which it functions according to its nature and purpose." Webster's Third New Int'l Dictionary 2635 (1986). See State v. Sample, 215 Wis. 2d 487, 499, 573 N.W.2d 187 (1998) (court may refer to dictionary definitions to establish the common and approved usage of a word in statute, even if it is not ambiguous). The nature of the tail lamp on

Brown's car is that it consists of three individual bulbs. The purpose of the tail lamp is to illuminate the tail end of the car using those three bulbs. When one of those bulbs is not lit, the lamp is not functioning according to its nature or purpose.<sup>2</sup>

The court's interpretation also conflicts with related statutes and administrative code sections. Wisconsin Stat. § 347.06(3) requires that a vehicle's operator keep all required lamps "reasonably clean and in proper working condition." Similarly, the code requires that tail lamps "shall be maintained in proper working condition and in conformity with this section and s. 347.13(1) and (2), Stats." Wis. Admin. Code § Trans. 305.16(2) (2013). A tail lamp with an unlit bulb has not been kept or maintained in proper working condition.

Further, Wis. Stat. § 347.13(4) requires that tail lamps be wired to be lighted whenever headlamps or auxiliary lighting lamps are lighted. And, Wis. Admin. Code § Trans. 305.16(3) requires that in tail lamps "all wiring and connections shall be maintained in good condition." If a defect in the tail lamp's electrical system was the cause of the lamp having an unlit bulb, either or both of these sections would be violated. Yet, under the court of appeals' decision, an officer could not stop

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The MacMillan Dictionary provides a clearer definition, explaining that "working order" means "working correctly, without any problems." *See* http://www.macmillandictionary.com/us/dictionary/america n/working-order (last visited Nov. 11, 2013). A tail lamp with an unlit bulb would not satisfy this definition.

a car to investigate whether this is the case if two of the three lights in the tail lamp are operational.

Additionally, the court of appeals' opinion conflicts its earlier decision in State v. Olson, No. 2010AP149-CR (Wis. Ct. App., Dist. IV, Aug. 5, 2010) (Pet-Ap. 199-202).<sup>3</sup> In *Olson*, the defendant was stopped driving a car with a total of four lamp light bulbs, two on each side. Id. ¶¶ 2, 12. One of bulbs on the right side was burned out. *Id.* The court of appeals held the stop was proper because the officer had probable cause to believe the burnt-out bulb violated Wis. Stat. § 347.13(1). Id. ¶¶ 9-12. It noted that the statute did not state that each bulb constituted a tail lamp. *Id.* ¶ 11. The court explained that on Olson's vehicle, the tail lamps consisted of two bulbs located on the right and left sides of the rear end, and that "[t]hese clusters of bulbs function together as a single device," within the meaning of Wis. Stat. § 340.01(66). Id. ¶ 11. The court held that because it was undisputed that one of the bulbs on the right lamp was burnt out, that lamp was not in good working order. *Id.* ¶ 12.

Olson conflicts with the court of appeals decision in this case.<sup>4</sup> It holds that a tail lamp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> *Olson* is an unpublished decision issued by a single judge after July 1, 2009, and may be cited for its persuasive authority. Wis. Stat. § 809.23(3)(b). The State has included a copy of the decision in its appendix. Wis. Stat. § 809.23(3)(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Two other unpublished court of appeals' decisions reach the same conclusion as *Olson*. Though issued by a (footnote continued)

with a nonfunctional bulb is not in good working order under Wis. Stat. § 347.13(1). Here, the court said that an unlit bulb does not violate § 347.13(1) if the tail lamp is still capable of designating the car's rear end. Brown, 346 Wis. 2d 98, ¶ 21. The only apparent way to reconcile the cases is to say a sixty-six percent functional lamp, as in this case, is in good working order, while a fifty percent functional lamp, as in Olson, is not. As discussed in the next section, this is a confusing and unworkable standard that offers little guidance to the public, law enforcement, and courts.

Finally, other state courts have interpreted the phrase "good working order" similar to Olson in cases involving vehicle lamps. See People v. Blue, No. A119530, 2008 WL 3890038, \*3 (Cal. Ct. App. Aug. 22, 2008) (Pet-Ap. 203-06) (tail light with bulb that it not functioning is not in good working order even though light may otherwise comply with other requirements of vehicle code); People v. Bradford, No. D051227, 2008 WL 2316490, \*3-4 (Cal. Ct. App. June 6, 2008) (Pet-Ap. 207-12) ("when a stoplamp is designed to function using two light bulbs, both of those bulbs must be working for the stoplamp to be said to be in good working order"); State v. Stephan, 2009 WL 815994 (N.J. Super. A.D. Mar. 31, 2009) (Pet-Ap. 213-15) (tail lights were not in good working order where one light was brighter than the other). This court should follow *Olson* and these cases, and conclude the court of appeals misinterpreted Wis. Stat. § 347.13(1).

single judge, both decisions were issued before 2009 and are not citable as persuasive authority.

2. The court of appeals' interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 347.13(1) creates a confusing standard.

The court of appeals' interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 347.13(1) also creates a confusing and unreasonable definition of "good working order." The public, law enforcement, and courts will have a difficult time applying the decision to the varieties of tail and other vehicle lamps that are required to be in good working order. See Wis. Stat. § 347.14(1) (where vehicle equipped with two stop lamps, they must be maintained in good working order). Requiring that all bulbs in a lamp be functioning provides a simple and clear standard.

Under the court of appeals interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 347.13(1), a tail lamp with sixty-six percent of its bulbs functioning is in good working order as long as it is capable of designating the rear of the vehicle by a warning light. *Brown*, 346 Wis. 2d 98, ¶ 21. Presumably, the lamp would also have to satisfy the requirements listed in § 347.13(1), which mandate that the lamp be mounted on the rear of the vehicle and emit a red light visible from 500 feet during hours of darkness.

The court's interpretation is confusing. It does not explain whether the percentage of functional bulbs is controlling or whether the tail lamp meeting the statutory requirements is what is relevant. If it is the former, the decision does not explain the minimum percentage of bulbs that must be for a lit lamp to be in good working order.

Olson holds that fifty percent is not enough, but it is not precedential, and in any event, the court's decision in this case does not explain what to do about lamps that are between fifty and sixty-six percent functional.

If all that matters is whether the lamp meets the statutory definitions, this too is problematic. Law enforcement would be unable to stop motorists to inform them that a bulb on their tail lamp was not functioning unless the officer made sure that the lamp was not capable of designating the car's rear end from 500 feet away Further, it is not obvious that in the dark. motorists would be willing to ensure their tail lamps met this requirement, which would be more difficult than simply examining whether all tail lamp bulbs were working. Requiring all bulbs to be lit would promote maintenance of vehicle safety equipment in furtherance of the vehicle code's primary purpose of promoting safety on the highways, see State v. Hart, 89 Wis. 2d 58, 66, 277 N.W.2d 843 (1979); see also Ziegler, 342 Wis. 2d 256, ¶ 43 (statute should be construed to avoid interpretation that contravenes its purpose). The court of appeals' decision is unclear and establishes a confusing standard. This court should reverse it.

3. The officers had probable cause to stop Brown's car.

The court of appeals misinterpreted Wis. Stat. § 347.13(1). All bulbs in a tail lamp must be lit for it to be in "good working order." Thus, if the unlit bulb on Brown's car was part of the tail lamp, Wawrzonek and Feely had probable cause to

stop the car because they observed a violation of  $\S 347.13(1)$ . *Popke*, 317 Wis. 2d 118,  $\P 14$ . This court should conclude the stop was proper.

C. Even if the officers were mistaken that the bulb was part of the tail lamp, they still could properly stop Brown's car.

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